
 
Alternate Formats: Persons with disabilities may request materials in alternative formats. Persons with hearing impairments may access the 
Washington State Telecommunications Relay Service at 711. 
 
Title VI: Kirkland’s policy is to fully comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act by prohibiting discrimination against any person on the basis of 
race, color, national origin or sex in the provision of benefits and services resulting from its programs and activities. Any person who believes 
his/her Title VI protection has been violated, may file a complaint with the City. 
To request an alternate format, file a complaint or for questions about Kirkland’s Title VI Program, contact the Title VI Coordinator at 425-587-
3011 or titlevicoordinator@kirklandwa.gov. 
 
The City of Kirkland strives to accommodate people with disabilities. Please contact the City Clerk’s Office at 425.587.3190, or for TTY Services call 
425.587.3111 (by noon the work day prior to the meeting) if we can be of assistance. If you should experience difficulty hearing the proceedings, 
please bring this to the attention of the Chairperson by raising your hand. 

 

Human Services Commission Meeting 
Date: February 28, 2023 
Time: 6:30 p.m. 
Place: Virtual Zoom Meeting -  
Webinar ID: https://kirklandwa-
gov.zoom.us/j/95665567758?pwd=eEhGaEYraThBbnlhUTdzUWVCa3c5dz09  
Passcode: 822788 
 

The commission is directed by the City Council to advise the Parks and Community Services Department, City Manager, and City 
Council in leading the City’s efforts to support a socially sustainable community through health and human services and programs that 
fulfill the basic needs of all people and enhance the quality of life in our city now and into the future. 
 

AGENDA 
   

1. CALL TO ORDER 
  
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3.     LAND ACKOWLEDGMENT   
 
4.     APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 a. January 24, 2023 
  
5. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE  
 
6.  BUSINESS ITEMS  
 a. 23-24 Set-Aside Staff Recommendations 
 b. One-Time Funding Project Updates  
   
7.      COMMUNICATIONS   

a. Commissioner Reports  
b. Staff Reports and Announcements 
  

9. ADJOURNMENT  
 

 
Upcoming Commission Activities: 

   
  March 28, 2023 – Regular Meeting 

mailto:titlevicoordinator@kirklandwa.gov
https://kirklandwa-gov.zoom.us/j/95665567758?pwd=eEhGaEYraThBbnlhUTdzUWVCa3c5dz09
https://kirklandwa-gov.zoom.us/j/95665567758?pwd=eEhGaEYraThBbnlhUTdzUWVCa3c5dz09


Human Services Commission Meeting: 
2/28/2023 
Agenda: Approval of Minutes  
Item #:4a 

CITY OF KIRKLAND 
HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION 
Minutes Commission Regular Meeting 
January 24, 2023 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair Gildas Cheung called meeting to order at 6:31pm

2. ROLL CALL

Members Present: Commissioners, Jonathan Stutz, Melantha Jenkins, Chloe Sow, Michelle
Alten-Kahler, and Vice Chair Jory Hamilton, Chair Gildas Cheung

Gabriella Lopez Vazquez, Marjorie Carlson absent.

Staff Present: Jen Boone, Human Services Manager, Amanda Judd, Human Services
Coordinator, Antoinette Smith, Human Services Coordinator

Meeting Recorder: Regi Schubiger, Youth Services Coordinator

3. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
Commissioner Michelle Alten-Kahler read land acknowledgement. Commissioner Melantha
Jenkins will read the acknowledgment at the February meeting.

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Chair Gildas Cheung requested a motion to approve the December 13, 2022 minutes. Motion
made by Commissioner Jonathan Stutz and seconded by Commissioner Jory Hamilton.
Motion carried (Yes: 6 No: 0).  New Commissioners Melantha Jenkins and Chloe Sow
abstained.

5. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE
None

6. BUSINESS
a. Commissioner and Staff Introductions

The group participated in a get to know you exercise to support the onboarding of
the new Commissioners.



b. Human Services Commission Orientation
Jen presented on the purpose of HSC, meeting structure, and general expectations
of Commissioner roles.

c. 2023 Work Plan
Jen presented the meeting calendar and proposed schedule for the year, including
education sessions, and joint meetings with Council and City advisory groups,
including Youth Council and Senior Council

d. KTUB Update
Jen updated the group with Council’s direction following the meeting on January
17th, 2023.

7. COMMUICATIONS
a. Commissioner Reports

a. Gildas will be sharing recommendation needs that will be shared in Olympia
for health centers

b. Jory shared PFEC updates, the Committee is entering into stage of what
projects should be recommended as part of the measure, and how capital
can be raised.  Asked for HSC feedback if any.

a. Staff Reports
a. Jen shared the homeless outreach coordinator position is active.

Encouraged Commissioners to share the link with anyone interested.
b. Anny will be ordering name tags and will reach out to Commissioners for

preference

b. ADJOURNMENT

Chair Gildas Cheung requested a motion to adjourn. Moved by Commissioner Jonathan Stutz 
and seconded by Commissioner Melantha Jenkins. The meeting was adjourned at 8:31 p.m. 



CITY OF KIRKLAND 
Department of Parks & Community Services 
123 5th Avenue, Kirkland, WA  98033 425.587.3300 
www.kirklandwa.gov

MEMORANDUM 

To: Human Services Commission 

From: Lynn Zwaagstra, Director 
Jen Boone, Human Services Manger 
Antoinette Smith, Human Services Coordinator, Equity 

Date: February 28, 2023 

Subject: 2023-2024 HUMAN SERVICES SET-ASIDE FUNDING RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Human Services Commission review staff recommendations for the set-aside funding 
approved by Kirkland City Council in December 2022 as part of the 2023-2024 budget.  

BACKGROUND DISCUSSION: 

As part of the 2023-2024 City of Kirkland Human Services Funding recommendations, the Human 
Services Commission proposed two separate set-aside amounts ($10,000 per identified population, per 
year for a total of $40,000) to be utilized for services focused on Black/African American and Native 
American/Indigenous community members. This set-aside request resulted from the understanding 
that Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) community members are disproportionately 
impacted by barriers to accessing health and human services.1 This is further compounded by the lack 
of culturally responsive programs that are created to meet needs in appropriate ways. 

There are many ways to address health and wellness for communities of color. Often these approaches 
differ from traditional strategies and are white-centered, developed by folks outside of these 
communities.  

The following is a list of recommendations for expending the set-aside funding, taking into 
consideration alternative methods and strategies for providing not only services to the identified 
communities but to invest in individual/community talents, expertise, and wisdom.  

Option 1 - Speaker Series 

Description: With the re-opening of the Kirkland Teen Union Building scheduled for Fall 2023, there is 
opportunity to utilize set-aside funding to invest in culturally responsive enrichment programming 
through implementing a speaker series for youth. The programming would be led by BIPOC leaders 
from the Eastside community. 

1 https://depts.washington.edu/uwchips/docs/brief-access-barriers.pdf  

Human Services Commission Meeting:
2/28/2023
Agenda: Business Items
Item #:6a

https://depts.washington.edu/uwchips/docs/brief-access-barriers.pdf


The need has been elevated to staff in meetings and conversations with BIPOC community 
organizations. One of the City’s partners, 4 Tomorrow, who supports the Latinx community, has shared 
the importance of providing exposure to Eastside youth in various humanities offered by community 
artists, storytellers, academics, and community leaders, recognizing the opportunity it creates to 
connect residents with additional resources and services. 

Speakers would be invited quarterly to share knowledge and expertise in areas such as art, music, 
writing, history, storytelling, academics, etc. The programming would be an interactive experience, 
including hands-on activities with community leaders and youth.  

Benefits: Offering culturally specific programming to youth who identify with leaders in the community 
connects underserved youth with the resources and programs KTUB offers, including behavioral health 
services and recreation programming. It nurtures BIPOC youth interests in the arts, sciences, 
academia, etc. and directly connects them with opportunities to build a sense of community and 
contribute to overall well-being with a lens that is culturally appropriate.  

Challenges: One challenge is finding, and equitably compensating, leaders interested in coming to 
KTUB. This recommendation aligns with cultural groups’ recommendations and challenges staff to 
identify how to measure success for a project like this. Staff would work with KTUB partners, like 4 
Tomorrow and those interested in participating in the speaker series to come up with measurable 
outcomes.  

Option 2 - Community Art Project 

Description: When addressing community needs holistically, it is important to consider many 
approaches while centering the strategies of those folks in the community. This option recommends 
contracting with a local BIPOC artist(s) to co-create an art installation in the City of Kirkland. The 
contract would work with a group of community members on the project. The location would be 
identified in partnership with the City of Kirkland, schools, and/or local businesses.2 The outcome from 
this project is centering the identified communities, and their stories and experiences, to create 
conversation to exchange knowledge and wisdom, and provide space for better understanding and 
representation in the City.  

“Arts and culture help us understand our experiences, express ourselves, fuel discourse, and inspire 
action. They are powerful sensory tools for disrupting and dismantling structural racism and its harmful 
effects, from deep disparities in health and education to police brutality and economic inequity.”3 

The connection between art and healing is not a new one. There has been an increase in community-
based projects that use the power of art to heal to address very serious issues that impact many lives.4 

The City hosted a focus group last year that included community service providers. From the group 
discussion, a recurring idea emerged that spoke to art’s ability to bridge communities, create a sense of 
belonging, and promote healing. The group spoke of projects, such as murals or art installations5, that 
are co-created by those in the community who have lived experience, prioritizing residents beyond who 
historically have had access, opportunity, and time. 

2 https://www.austinsart.net/salmonmural  
3 https://www.seattlefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Creative_Equity_Fund_Presentation.pdf  
4 https://www.arts.gov/stories/blog/2022/intersection-arts-and-public-health-ask-question-engages-arts-suicide-prevention 
5 https://urbanartworks.org/about/  

https://www.austinsart.net/salmonmural
https://www.seattlefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Creative_Equity_Fund_Presentation.pdf
https://www.arts.gov/stories/blog/2022/intersection-arts-and-public-health-ask-question-engages-arts-suicide-prevention
https://urbanartworks.org/about/


Benefits: Investing in the talent, knowledge, and the expertise of BIPOC artists is necessary in the 
movement towards a more equitable community. Representation matters. This is an opportunity to 
bridge community on many levels, and work towards healing the priority communities intended to be 
served by the set-aside funds.  

Art can promote healing, sense of well-being, and welcoming in a space.6 It can spark conversation 
about the land that we occupy that is not our own and how that came to pass. Art can create 
opportunity to interrogate, to reflect, and to move into action.7 Option 2 is an alternative approach to 
caring for the collective community’s well-being in a more holistic way while investing in people, 
treasuring their talents, and honoring how they connect our community outside of formal provision of 
social services or resources.  

Challenges: Often we see culturally centered art that is not the product of folks within or part of a 
specific community. It is important the subject matter centers Black/African American and Native 
American/Indigenous communities and co-created by those communities. This can be challenging when 
it is a hard message or story to share. An example of this in recent history is the installation at Bellevue 
College titled “Never Again Is Now” by Seattle artist Erin Shigaki that was defaced by a college 
administrator in early 2020.8 There is also the issue of equitable compensation for labor and expertise. 
There can be an assumption that exposure of a person’s art is compensation enough.  

Option 3 – Expand Funding Criteria to include BIPOC 

Description: Option 3 recommends broadening the criteria beyond supporting Black/African American 
and Native American/Indigenous folks to include additional communities who identify as BIPOC or 
programs serving the greater King County area. If the criteria were expanded, the additional 
communities would include Asian American, Pacific Islander, Latina/e/o/x/Hispanic, and others that 
may not fit “neatly” into ascribed racial and ethnic categories.  

One existing gap in services are Portuguese-speaking families from Brazil. Staff recently met with 
Communities in Schools Renton and Kamiakin Middle School staff to discuss ways the City can support 
these families and students. Currently, there are no City-funded agencies or programs that focus 
specifically on Portuguese-speaking community members; but staff are familiar with agencies that 
provide culturally specific services to the Brazilian community on the Eastside.    

Benefits: Expanding the funding criteria to include additional Kirkland BIPOC communities helps the 
City reach agency programs that are doing intentional outreach on the Eastside or extend funding to 
services provided to the identified populations in places where there is already established agencies 
and programs serving those communities because the population is more centralized there. There are 
very limited programs and services that solely focus on the priority populations using the current 
criteria.  

Challenges: Finding agencies that have created programming to address the needs of these specific 
communities in East King County is difficult. When we look at demographic information for the City of 
Kirkland, we see the following: 

6 https://www.who.int/initiatives/arts-and-health 
7 https://yehawshow.com/about  
8 https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/eastside/bellevue-college-apologizes-after-administrator-alters-mural-depicting-japanese-
american-internment/  

https://www.who.int/initiatives/arts-and-health
https://yehawshow.com/about
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/eastside/bellevue-college-apologizes-after-administrator-alters-mural-depicting-japanese-american-internment/
https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/eastside/bellevue-college-apologizes-after-administrator-alters-mural-depicting-japanese-american-internment/


9

The two specified community groups are among the lowest percentage of the City’s residents. An 
additional consideration is an assumption that residents who are part of these communities are low-
income and in need of services. Staff recently learned following completion of 21-22 human services 
contracts, that an existing grant supporting outreach towards Black youth was no longer needed. The 
agency reported that the Black youth agency staff were outreaching to no longer required additional 
resources and support. The agency has asked to expand the focus of programming to support all 
BIPOC youth for 23-24 funding.  

Option 4 - Supporting Existing Programs Receiving Funding 

Description: 22% ($491,416) or 17 programs of the 23-24 human services grant funds are supporting 
BIPOC programs that currently provide culturally responsive programming. There is one program that 
supports Black/African American residents specifically. As mentioned above, the agency has requested 
an expansion of scope for 23-24 to include all BIPOC youth. 

This option recommends allocating additional funding to 23-24 awards that were recommended and 
approved by City Council. Such programs that serve BIPOC communities were not fully funded as part 
of the 2023-2024 budget approvals. Staff could present the Commission with a list and 
recommendations of additional funding allocations to BIPOC agencies that did not receive full funding 
for this biennium grant cycle.   

Benefits: This option provides funding to make whole those agency programs that did not receive 
their full funding ask, strengthening the agencies’ ability to better meet community need. 

Challenges: Because many of these programs assist folks from diverse backgrounds, races, and 
ethnicities, Option 4 would limit the demographics collected to what the City asks all agencies to report 
on, and the funding would most likely be used to serve residents outside of the priority populations.  

Option 5 - Request for Proposals (RFP) Process 

Description: Option 5 recommends running a Request for Proposal process (RFP). The RFP process 
identifies an objective by the City and asks those interested with the expertise to apply. Staff would 
include the priority populations and collect submissions from agencies whose work aligns with serving 
Black and/or Indigenous residents.  

In the last year, Human Services staff have posted RFPs to fund projects like the Language and Digital 
Equity Grant, Support for Mental Health Providers (agencies already funded by the City), and Spanish- 
and Portuguese-language support programs. The City was able to provide one-time funding to eight 
distinct agencies that provided support to Eastside community members, the vast majority identifying 

9 https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/kirklandcitywashington 

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/kirklandcitywashington


as BIPOC and/or immigrant/refugee. Of these agencies, three identified as by and 
for/BIPOC/immigrant and refugee led agencies. 

Benefits: This approach provides agencies the opportunity to create services more intentionally, 
potentially in a new and “innovative” way that they currently do not have funding resources to support. 

Challenges: Challenges to consider include the additional burden placed on already stretched-thin 
agencies to create new programming as well as the lack of secured funding to continue new 
programming past the expenditure of this one-time funding opportunity.  

It could also be seen as a duplicative process if an agency did not receive full funding from the 23-24 
grant funding process and the City is asking for a new proposal and additional work without 
guaranteed funds.  

At its February 28th meeting, the Commission will be asked to provide feedback and direction on what 
recommendation they would like to pursue.  



CITY OF KIRKLAND 
Department of Parks & Community Services 
123 5th Avenue, Kirkland, WA  98033  425.587.3300 
www.kirklandwa.gov

MEMORANDUM 

To: Human Services Commission 

From: Lynn Zwaagstra, Director 
Jen Boone, Interim Human Services Supervisor 

Date: March 17, 2022 

Subject: COVID-19 FUNDING UPDATE 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Human Services Commission receive an update on projects that received one-time 
funding in 2022.  

BACKGROUND DISCUSSION 

Human Services received $1 million in American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds and  
three tranches of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) emergency funds to address 
disparate impacts on communities impacted by COVID-19. The Commission approved 
recommendations in 2022 to support housing stability, behavioral health retention, language 
access and digital equity, homelessness, and access to health care.  

Staff will present project updates on all programs that received one-time emergency funds with 
the Commission and answer questions about projects continuing into 2023.     

Human Services Commission Meeting:
2/28/2023
Agenda: Business Items
Item #:6b


	0_HSC Agenda Feb 28 2023 Meeting Agenda
	AGENDA

	04_January 24, 2023 Minutes
	06a_2023-2024 Set-Aside Funding Recs
	06b_ COVID-19 Funding Update
	RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND DISCUSSION




